RECEIVED

Jul 14 2026

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

Appeal from the
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS, ANDERSON COUNTY
The Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Judge

Appellate Case No. 2026-001506
Case No. 2026-CP-04-001100

Tonya Winbush.....Appellant,

v.

City of Anderson, South Carolina;
Anderson Municipal Election Commission;
David Ford, Clara E. Humphrey, and Renee
Fields-York, in their Official Capacities as
Municipal Election Commissioners;
and Darryl Thompson.....Respondents.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Christopher P. Kenney (SC Bar No. 100147)
CHRIS KENNEY LAW
Post Office Box 1377
2191 Pickens St., Suite 304 (29201)
Columbia, SC 29202

INTRODUCTION

Appellant Tonya Winbush won the April 7, 2026, Election for Seat 5 on the Anderson City Council and defeated her opponent, Respondent Darryl Thompson, by a margin of two to one. Thompson filed a vague two-sentence Protest claiming Winbush “may” not live in Seat 5. Respondent Anderson Municipal Election Commission and its commissioners, Respondents David Ford, Clara Humphrey, and Renee Fields-York, (collectively, the “Commission”) broke the law by failing to follow the procedure set forth in S.C. Code Ann. § 5-15-130 and asked the attorney for Respondent City of Anderson to investigate Winbush’s residency. Without taking the oath or any cross-examination, the City attorney made a presentation of “information” the City gathered to (in its view) bolster the Protest. The Commission’s Decision cited this so-called evidence to invalidate the will of the voters based on the false conclusion that it “appears” Winbush did not reside in Seat 5 when she filed.

Winbush appealed the Decision to the Court of Common Pleas for Anderson County under S.C. Code Ann. § 5-15-140. The Circuit Court heard the appeal then kept it under advisement for eight weeks before issuing a Form 4 Order affirming the Decision without any explanation.

Winbush noticed this appeal the next day. The Court has jurisdiction under S.C. Code Ann. § 14-8-200(b)(5) and Rule 203(d)(1)(A)(iv), SCACR.

[remainder of page intentionally blank]

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. Whether an election loser can contest his opponent's residency after votes are cast when South Carolina Code § 5-15-130 merely allows a candidate to contest "the result" of an election?
- II. Whether a candidate who established a domicile, testified about her intent, and produced evidence to corroborate her testimony can be deemed not to "reside" in the district where she was elected?
- III. Whether a required legal presumption in favor of upholding election results has been followed when an election commission ignores the evidence submitted by the winner in support of her residency?
- IV. Whether an election commission violates its charge under Section 5-15-130 to "decide the issues raised," due process, and the Free and Open Elections Clause by prosecuting a protest as its own rather than acting as an impartial tribunal?
- V. Whether an election commission's failure to meet deadlines under Section 5-15-130 requires vacating a decision that prejudiced the winner with a commission-led fishing expedition for evidence to overturn the election?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 7, 2026, the City conducted municipal elections. Two candidates filed and appeared on the ballot for Seat 5¹: Tonya Winbush and Darryl Thompson. Winbush defeated Thompson² by a vote of 135 to 68. R0102.³

On April 9, 2026, Thompson sent a letter (the "Protest") to the Anderson County Board of Voter Registration and Elections (not the Commission). The two-sentence Protest read:

It has come to my attention that my opponent, Tonya Winbush, in this week's Election may not be a resident of ward 5.

¹ A map of Seat 5 is at: www.cityofandersonsc.com/wp-content/uploads/2024/09/Council-Districts_Seat-5_09-16-24.pdf.

² Thompson is the son of the incumbent City Councilwoman, Beatrice Thompson, who did not seek reelection.

³ Citations to "R. __" below refer to the record filed with the circuit court, which will be reorganized pursuant to Rule 210, SCACR and re-labeled in the Record on Appeal as "ROA__."

Therefore I am filing a protest with your office to determine whether she meets the requirements to run for office in ward 5.

R.0111. No supporting materials were enclosed, and no further allegations were made.

Also on April 9, at 9:30 am, the Commission met to canvass the vote. See R.0101. According to the minutes, a county board employee presented the Protest to the Commission. Id. A protest hearing was scheduled for April 14, 2026, at 9:30 am, and “City staff was directed to investigate the issue.” Id. That same day, Chair Ford sent notice to Winbush and Thompson that the Commission would hold a hearing “on issues concerning the protest[.]” R.0108–0109.

On April 14, 2026, the Commission held a hearing on the Protest. Thompson appeared *pro se*. R.0006. Winbush was represented by Brooke Ennis, Esq., of Upstate Law, who filed a motion to dismiss the Protest, arguing that Thompson (1) improperly filed his protest with the county board, instead of the Commission, (2) failed to state facts sufficient to constitute a colorable protest, and (3) should have contested Winbush’s right to appear on the ballot in circuit court before ballots were printed. R.0208–0211.

The person who effectively presided over the hearing was not the Chair, who appeared to have no idea whatsoever as to the procedure, but an attorney for the City. See R.0006 (“MR. FORD: Okay. Who’s swearing them in? MR. CAMPBELL: You do. MR. FORD: No. Who am I swearing in? MR. CAMPBELL: You swear everybody that’s going to talk today.”).

Thompson testified that he protested because he did not believe Winbush was a resident of Seat 5. R.0007. He submitted “two pieces of information that [led him] to that conclusion.” Id. Without objection, he entered a single-page printout from the Anderson County Public Access System and Services (ACPASS) website (Ex. 1) into evidence with a deed downloaded from the website (Ex. 2) that Thompson claimed, “indicates that Ms. Winbush lives at 741 Kings Road,

which is not in Ward 5.” R.0007, 0024–029. Thompson offered no further evidence and the entirety of his Protest rested on his conclusion drawn from the Kings Road deed.

Winbush testified that she resided at 309 Morris Lane, Anderson, South Carolina when her candidacy began on January 29, 2026, and she produced a residential lease (Ex. 3), dated January 26, 2026, with her name on it for that address. R.0008, 0031–040; see also R.0092 (Statement of Intention of Candidacy (SIC)). The property at Morris Lane is in Seat 5. R.0008. When Winbush moved to Morris Lane, she changed her voter registration (R.0008–09), which was entered into evidence (Ex. 4) and indicates Winbush was registered at the Morris Lane address. R.0041. Winbush also testified that she had city water bills and a Duke Energy bill at Morris Lane. R.0009. Those bills—\$42 for Electric City Utilities in March 2026 and \$26.78 for Duke Energy from February 21 to March 23, 2026—were entered into evidence. R.0042 (Ex. 5), 0043–044 (Ex. 6).

However, Winbush did not stay at Morris Lane “because the renovations [at the property] were taking so long, [she] had to move into another place that was more feasible and livable that [she] could dwell in.” R.0009. Accordingly, on March 12, 2026, Winbush signed a lease agreement (Ex. 7) for a residential property located at 411 Smith Street, Anderson, South Carolina and moved to that location. R.0009–010, 0045–086. The property at Smith Street is also in Seat 5. R.0009. When she moved to Smith Street, Winbush (again) updated her voter registration (Ex. 8), which was placed into evidence. R.0010, 0087. Winbush also transferred her utility billing address to Smith Street. See R.0010, 0088 (Ex. 9). All Winbush’s personal belongings are at Smith Street, and she testified, “[t]hat’s where I intend to stay.” R.0011.

Winbush also testified about the Kings Road deed. She agreed that the Kings Road property is not in Seat 5 but explained she did not reside there. R.0010–011. In fact, she testified:

The Kings Road address is on family property, and the intent and the evidence that the opponent produced is a deed being placed in the trust of the property. I have four daughters, and my oldest daughter lives there. My youngest daughter, she lives there during the summer because she's at USC. And so my whole intent, because this property is a part of the family property or estate, is to make sure that the property gets placed in the trust and that my children continue to own the property for -- for family generations to come. So that was the intent.

R.0011. The Kings Road deed indicates the property was transferred to “Tonya Lashawn Winbush, as Trustee of The Fourth Star Revocable Trust dated March 12, 2026....” R.0025.

Thompson and Winbush took the oath before they provided testimony to the Commission. The only other person to present information to the Commission was City attorney Rame Lambert Campbell, Esq., who had previously told the Chair that the Chair would “swear everybody that’s going to talk today.” See R.0006. That wasn’t true. Campbell never took the oath. See R.0012–022. Nevertheless, upon the invitation of the Chair (“Does the city staff have any information to share at this time?”), Campbell stated:

MR. CAMPBELL: Yes, sir. Thank you, Chairman of the Board. On behalf of the city, at the municipal elections meeting we had with you all on April the 9th, regarding validating the votes that had come in on April 7th, and *he directed us to at least look into it initially and present some facts that we found*. The information we found was basically through the resources that the city has, as well as through public access. I did -- I’ll hand up the notebook that I put together for you all to review. I’ll give one to everybody.

(Whereupon, Mr. Campbell’s Exhibit No. 10 was marked for identification purposes.)

R.0012–013, 0089–0207 (emphasis added). After placing 118 pages of unauthenticated hearsay into “evidence,” Campbell made the following unsworn claims and conclusions:

First, Campbell claimed the Protest hearing was timely. R.0012–013. More on that below.

Second, Campbell explained that when Winbush filed to run, her candidacy appeared to be in good order. “Ms. Winbush, when she filed her candidacy, she presented a month-to-month rental lease for 309 Morris Lane. That was signed on January 26th, and she also produced a signed water contract utility.” R.0013, 0151–52, 0155–57. Campbell stated further, “And as far as I can tell, everything was proper, and she was properly performed [sic] to have her name placed on the ballot.” R.0013–014. He concluded, “she appeared to be, based upon that, a valid candidate.” *Id.* Turning to what the City attorneys purportedly found, Campbell reiterated again: “Based on what we found and some of the information that Ms. Winbush has provided, *she was residing at 309 Morris Lane.*” R.0015 (emphasis added).

Third, Campbell then presented a copy of Winbush’s driver’s license (R.0153) and noted the address was Kings Road. R.0015–016. The license indicates it was issued in February 2020 and does not expire until 2028. See R.00153; see also R.0186–87.

Fourth, Campbell presented three vehicle registrations with Winbush’s name and the Kings Road address on the registration and speculated:

So basically, one car in her sole name is still registered to 741, and the other two cars that she is co-signor or co-owners with, are both listed back to Kings Road. Before that, to my knowledge, she’s not paying any city of Anderson taxes to one of the vehicles.

R.0016–17. No further information was provided in reference to City vehicle taxes, what ordinance imposes this tax, or what system(s) Campbell reviewed to support his suggestion that Winbush should be paying one.

Fifth, Campbell acknowledged that the Kings Road property “is family land” and that he knew “the Winbushes have a lot of property in that area.” R.0017. But then, discussing the deed transferring the Kings Road property to the Winbush family trust, he inexplicably concluded: “This trust is a revocable trust, and she is the trustee of the revocable trust. The -- the four-star revocable

trust is dated March the 12th, 2026, so she's technically trustee over her own trust." R.0017. There are no trust documents in the record. The only witness with personal knowledge of the trust and its beneficiaries is Winbush who testified two of her daughters live at Kings Road and that the property is held in trust for her four daughters. See R.0011.

Sixth, Campbell speculated about property taxes:

And I do know that when you typically change your primary residence, you would have to at least file something with the county -- with the county tax collector's office. If you're dealing with tax breaks, going from four percent to six percent, that's no longer your primary residence. We did not see any information regarding that, that she intended to abandon that on -- on that issue.

R.0018. It is unclear what the "that" is to which Campbell is referring. The City's exhibit binder does not include any property tax records (see R.0090) and Winbush deeded the Kings Road property to the trust and moved to a leased property. It is unclear what sort of tax filing Campbell believes she should have made *for a leased property she does not own*.

Seventh, Campbell concluded Winbush was not living at Morris Lane because the City's water meter purportedly did not change from January to March. R.0018–19 (citing R.0163–64). He claimed, "My understanding of this, that means in the 50 days that she was residing in 309 Morris Lane, this water was on, no water was used." R.0019. There was no testimony concerning the basis for his "understanding," no testimony about what these records were or how they were generated, no testimony about the water department's meter reading practices, and no testimony about the accuracy of these readings. However, according to these water department documents, the City was billing Winbush for *something* from January to March. See R.0160 (indicating she paid \$42 in February and was billed \$24 for two weeks in March). Likewise, Campbell concluded Winbush did not use any water at her Smith Street residence either based on his examination of

City water records. See R.0019–20. Notwithstanding Campbell’s opinion, the City also charged Winbush money for her Smith Street water service. R.0173–78.

Campbell sought to bolster his conclusion that a purported lack of water usage proved Winbush was not residing at Morris Lane or Smith Street with another water department report for Kings Road (R.0180) purportedly showing usage of “500 gallons, 500 gallon, 600, 400, so there was usage there at that residence.” R.0020. Curiously, however, while Campbell concluded there were *hundreds* of gallons being used at Kings Road and *nothing* being used at Morris Lane or Smith Street, a bill for 500 gallons at Kings Road was only \$39.82 (compare R.0181, with R.0180), which is similar to the bills for Morris Lane and Smith Street for \$42 (R.0159), \$24 (R.0160), and \$42 (R.0175). Put differently, the only conclusion the water records support is either that Campbell had no idea what he was talking about or that City record keeping is inaccurate.

Following Campbell’s presentation, the Chair closed the meeting for deliberation. R.0022. When the Commission returned, the Chair announced, “After hearing from both parties regarding the protest, we’ve reached the decision to not certify this election at this time.” Id. The entire hearing, including deliberations, took just 47 minutes. See R.0003, 0022.

On April 17, 2026, the Chair signed a Decision invalidating the Election. R.0001–02. The Decision cites the Kings Road deed signed by Winbush as grantor on March 12, 2026, to her as trustee for the trust and observes, “[t]he grantee’s address on the deed is 741 King Street [sic], which is not in the city.” R.0001. The Decision states that Winbush testified she moved to Morris Lane, which is in Seat 5, prior to filing to run and presented the Commission with a lease for Morris Lane and an application for water service. Id. That is not accurate: Winbush presented water bills, not a mere application. Cf. R.0042 (Ex. 5). The Decision is silent about the Morris Lane energy bill (R.0043 (Ex. 6)), her voter registration (R.0041 (Ex. 4)), and her move to Smith

Street or the utilities and voter registration update to that address. The Decision is also silent about where she keeps personal belongings and, critically, Winbush’s own testimony about her intent.

The Decision explains that after the Protest was received, the Commission requested “the City attorneys investigate[] the matter and [that they] presented a notebook containing documents relevant to the issue.” R.0001. The Decision concludes, “[b]ased upon the evidence submitted, it appears that Ms. Winbush had not abandoned her residence and domicile at 741 Kings Road at the time she filed to run, or thereafter.” R.0002. Based on this conclusion, the Commission invalidated the Election.

On April 20, 2026, Winbush received notice of the Decision through her attorney. On April 27, 2026, Winbush filed a notice of appeal and appeal with the circuit court. ROA___. On May 13, 2026, the City, Commission, and Commissioners filed a brief. ROA___.

On May 15, 2026, the Circuit Court heard argument and took the appeal under advisement. ROA___. Seven weeks later, on June 30, 2026, Winbush’s counsel sent email correspondence to Chambers inquiring as to whether there was any additional information the parties could provide to assist the Circuit Court in reaching a ruling, explaining:

As Your Honor knows, this dispute concerns the outcome of the April 7, 2026, Election for City Council Seat 5. Under South Carolina Code Section 5-15-40, members of city council serve four-year terms with the retiring incumbent’s term ending today, which will leave the residents of Seat 5 without representation until this dispute is resolved.

ROA___. On July 7, 2026, the Circuit Court issued a five-sentence Form 4 Order affirming the Decision. ROA___. The extent of the Circuit Court’s reasoning was that it found “NO ERRORS OF LAW AND THE FACTUAL FINDINGS ARE SUPPORTED BY EVIDENCE.” ROA___ (emphasis original). This appeal followed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In municipal election cases, the Court reviews the judgment of a circuit court only to correct errors of law and does not extend to findings of fact “unless those findings are wholly unsupported by the evidence.” Odom v. Town of McBee Election Comm’n, 427 S.C. 305, 307, 831 S.E.2d 429, 430 (2019) (quoting Taylor v. Town of Atl. Beach Election Comm’n, 363 S.C. 8, 12, 609 S.E.2d 500, 502 (2005)).

ARGUMENT

The Court should reverse or vacate the Decision and order the Commission to certify the Election result for one or more of the following five reasons.

I. The Protest should have been dismissed because the purpose of an election protest is to dispute the result, not ballot access.

The Protest disputes Winbush’s residency. It has nothing to do with the Election’s result. Therefore, the Commission should have granted Winbush’s motion to dismiss (ROA___), and it erred in failing to dismiss the Protest.

South Carolina Code § 5-15-130, concerning “Procedures for contesting results of election[,]” allows a candidate for municipal office to “contest the result of the election” The defining characteristic of any colorable municipal election protest is a complaint about *the result*, not a complaint about a candidate’s ballot access.

There are two prerequisites to maintaining an election contest in South Carolina: (1) the contest notice must allege irregularities or illegalities; and (2) the alleged irregularities or illegalities must have changed or rendered doubtful the result of the election in the absence of fraud, a constitutional violation, or a statute providing that such irregularity or illegality shall invalidate the election.

Taylor, 363 S.C. at 16, 609 S.E.2d at 504.

Municipal election precedents reinforce the conclusion that protests must dispute the result. For example, in Taylor, the Court affirmed a decision to uphold an election where the protestant failed to prove that the late opening of the polls and irregular handling of 22 ballots affected the result or were the product of fraud or a legal violation. See 363 S.C. at 18, 609 S.E.2d at 505. Likewise, in George v. Mun. Election Comm’n of City of Charleston, the Court invalidated an election because the failure to conduct the election with voting booths and secret ballots were “essential element[s] of the election and the fundamental integrity of the electoral process.” 335 S.C. 182, 193, 516 S.E.2d 206, 212 (1999). So too in Broadhurst v. City of Myrtle Beach Election Comm’n, where a new election was necessary because a voting machine’s failure to count votes in a precinct called the result into doubt. 342 S.C. 373, 382, 537 S.E.2d 543, 547 (2000). Unlike these cases, the result here is not in dispute.

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