RECEIVED

Aug 07 2026

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM ANDERSON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2026-001506
Lower Court Case No.: 2026-CP-04-001100

Tonya Winbush.....Appellant,

v.

City of Anderson, South Carolina, Anderson Municipal Election Commission,
David Ford, Clara E. Humphrey, and Renee Fields-York, in their Official
Capacity As Municipal Election Commissioners, and Darryl Thompson..... Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Robert E. Tyson, Jr., SC Bar No. 10820
La’Jessica Stringfellow, SC Bar No. 102376
Sarah C. Frierson, SC Bar No. 104643

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

ARGUMENT

I. The circuit court correctly found the Commission’s decision was supported by evidence.

At its April 14 hearing, the Commission reviewed substantial evidence relating to Winbush’s residence during her candidacy for Seat 5. Thompson presented evidence that Winbush continued to reside at a property outside of Seat 5’s boundaries, and Winbush presented evidence she was eligible to be elected.

Appellant conflates the Commission’s discretion in reviewing the evidence as “appl[ying] a far too demanding standard that insists *all* of Winbush’s papers should align perfectly before she could hope to claim she moved her residence.” (App.’s Br. at 21). Not so. The Commission has discretion to find some evidence more persuasive or determinative, and the Court cannot interfere with the Commission’s findings when any evidence supports those findings. *See Gantt*, 423 S.C. at 342, 814 S.E.2d at 532. The Commission’s Decision details all evidence presented to it, including, but not limited to: Thompson’s two exhibits; Winbush’s decision to register two cars at 741 Kings Road in February 2026 (some six weeks after she filed to run for Seat 5); and utility bills from Morris Lane, including a water bill that shows no usage of water while she allegedly lived there. (R. pp. 172-290). Because there is evidence supporting the Commission’s decision not to certify the April 7 election, the Court should affirm.

Winbush’s claim that the Commission’s finding is “wholly unsupported by the evidence” misapplies both the record and the applicable legal standard. (App.’s Br. at 15). True, our courts have repeatedly held that Courts review municipal election commission factual findings only when they are “wholly unsupported by the evidence.” *Cole v. Town of Atl. Beach Eletion Comm’n*, 393 S.C. 264, 712 S.E.2d 440 (2011); *see also Odom v. Town of McBee Election Comm’n*, 427 S.C. 305, 831 S.E.2d 43 (2023). But the Commission’s decision easily clears this low threshold.

The Anderson City Code requires “[c]andidates seeking office from a particular district [to] be residents of the district at any time they offer for election and during their entire terms of office.” Anderson City Code § 38-3. The South Carolina Code clarifies when a candidate is a resident of the applicable district, stating “[a] person’s residence is his domicile . . . where he has an intention of returning when he is absent. A person has only one domicile.” S.C. Code Ann. § 7-1-25(A). For a candidate changing residences, the statute clarifies when that change occurs:

“[f]or voting purposes, a person has changed his domicile if he (1) has abandoned his prior home and (2) has established a new home, has a present intention to make that place his home, and has no present intention to leave that place.” S.C. Code Ann. § 7-1-25(B). The statute also lists eleven factors to consider when determining a candidate’s intent regarding his domicile, though those factors are not exhaustive. S.C. Code Ann. § 7-1-25(D). When an election commission receives a residency challenge, that commission considers these factors. S.C. Code Ann. § 7-5-230(B).

Here, Thompson presented the Commission with evidence that Winbush had not abandoned her prior home when she registered as a candidate for the Anderson City Council Seat 5. While Winbush testified she did not live at 741 Kings Road, the Commission decided “Winbush had not abandoned her residence and domicile at 741 Kings Road at the time she filed to run, or thereafter.” (R. pp. 4-5).

Making three arguments on the issue, Appellant attempts to dissect the Commission’s decision, claiming no evidence supports it. All three arguments fail in light of the evidence presented at the April 14 hearing.

First, Appellant argues she automatically established residency in Seat 5’s boundaries when she registered as a candidate and listed 309 Morris Lane as her address. (App.’s Br. 16). Because it was proper to place Winbush on the ballot, she argues, her residency could not be challenged. (*Id.*). Both these points go against the plain language of section 7-1-25, which requires the Commission to review a candidate’s domicile after it is challenged. S.C. Code Ann. § 7-5-230(B) (“*When a challenge is made* regarding the residence or domicile of an elector, the board must consider the provisions of Section 7-1-25(D).” (emphasis added)). If not for the opposing candidate’s protest, a candidate potentially could participate in a scheme to defraud the

Commission by agreeing to a sham lease in the desired district to prove residency but never move into the new domicile.

Second, Appellant contends the testimony and information from city staff was not evidence the Commission could consider. (App.'s Br. at 16–18). Information produced by the City Attorney was contained in public records, so the Commission was entitled to review it. *See* Rule 201, SCRE. The record contained ample other evidence, such as Thompson's exhibits and also Winbush's exhibits, supporting the Commission's finding that Winbush had not abandoned her residence at King's Road. The Commission had the authority to weigh this evidence and conclude that Winbush's residence remained outside the boundaries of Seat 5. *See Gantt*, 423 S.C. at 342, 814 S.E.2d at 532. Even if the Court discounts the information the City Attorney presented, Thompson's exhibits provide sufficient evidence to support the Commission's decision to order a new election. *See id.*

Finally, Appellant argues Thompson's exhibits and testimony provide no evidence because “[i]mplicit in the Decision's reasoning is the notion that unless every address on every scrap of paper with some bearing on an individual's life matches precisely at the time of filing, then they have not established residency.” (App.'s Br. at 18–19). But nothing suggests the Commission applied this heightened standard in reviewing Thompson's protest. The Commission applied the correct standard and merely found against Winbush.

This Court's standard is to “employ every reasonable presumption to sustain a contested election, *and will not set aside an election due to mere irregularities or illegalities unless the result is changed or rendered doubtful.*” *Broadhurst*, 342 S.C. at 379, 537 S.E.2d at 546 (emphasis added). Rather than engage with the Commission's standard, Appellant creates her own standard, excluding the presumption requirement to create a baseline mandate for the Commission to view

all evidence in favor of the non-protesting candidate. (App.'s Br. at 21–22). That is not the standard. The Commission had to employ every reasonable presumption to sustain a contested election unless irregularities or illegalities changed the election's result. A candidate's failure to meet residency qualifications renders that candidate ineligible, which directly affects whether the election result is valid. *See* Anderson City Code § 38-3; *see also Taylor*, 363 S.C. at 16, 609 S.E.2d 500 at 504. Thompson's protest highlighted the residency issue. Thus, the Commission was well within its bounds to hear the protest post-election and refuse to certify the results.

Even when Appellant analyzes the eleven factors contained in section 7-1-25(D), she misinterprets the Commission's standard and the Court's standard on appeal. Reversal is not appropriate if the statute's eleven factors "weigh heavily in favor of Winbush." (App.'s Br. at 19). Reversal is appropriate only if the Commission's "findings are wholly unsupported by the evidence." *Taylor*, 363 S.C. at 12, 609 S.E.2d 500 at 502.

They are not. The Commission declined to certify the April 7 election, and evidence supported this decision. The circuit court affirmed, agreeing on the record that evidence supports the decision, and the Court should affirm too.

II. The Commission's review of Thompson's protest was proper.

In addition to challenging the Commission's decision outright, Appellant's arguments about the Commission's procedures hold no merit. Appellant must distort South Carolina law to support her sweeping claims. The Commission applied the correct standard and followed the correct procedures when it reviewed the protest and evidence presented and then declined to certify the April 7 election. The Court should not give weight to Appellant's supplemental arguments.

a. A candidate's residency can be challenged before the election is certified.

No South Carolina law prohibits a protest of a candidate's residency after votes are cast. Thompson's protest challenged the April 7 election by arguing Winbush is not a resident in Seat 5's boundaries. *See Blair v. City of Manning*, 345 S.C. 141, 143–44, 546 S.E.2d 649, 651 (2001) (an appeal contesting a candidate's residency after the election is governed by section 5-15-140).

None of the case law Appellant cites, (App.'s Br. at 21–22), creates such a strict standard or timeline to challenging a candidate's residency. Instead, the Commission and this Court must apply the traditional standard for an election contest: “(1) the contest notice must allege irregularities or illegalities; and (2) the alleged irregularities or illegalities must have changed or rendered doubtful the result of the election in the absence of fraud, a constitutional violation, or a statute providing that such irregularity or illegality shall invalidate the election.” *Taylor*, 363 S.C. at 16, 609 S.E.2d 500 at 504. Here, the illegality is Winbush's residence. Just as with non-resident voters who participate in elections and sway the majority vote, *see Dukes v. Redmond*, 357 S.C. 454, 456, 593 S.E.2d 606, 607 (2004), a non-resident candidate who carries the majority vote invalidates the election. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 7-5-610.

b. Winbush was not denied due process of law or her rights under the Free and Open Elections Clause.

The Commission's decision to decline to certify the April 7 election did not violate Appellants rights under the United States or South Carolina Constitutions. Appellant misinterprets the City Attorney's role helping the Commission resolve where Appellant resided. (App.'s Br. at 22). Section 5-15-130 does not prohibit a municipal election commission from gathering information relevant to deciding a protest. In fact, the statute requires the Commission to “conduct a hearing on the contest” and “decide the issues raised.” S.C. Code Ann. § 5-15-130. Municipal election commissions have inherent authority to investigate election-related matters within their

jurisdiction. This authority complies with their statutory duty to “decide the issues raised” in a protest. *Id.*

The protest here raised a specific factual question: whether Winbush resided in Seat 5’s boundaries? The Commission was well-within its authority to investigate and request assistance from staff to compile relevant public records bearing on the issue raised in the protest.

The City Attorney collected relevant information and presented it to the Commission. The Commission included this information in the record, and Winbush’s attorney did not object. Therefore, Appellant’s argument is not preserved. *See State v. Black*, 319 S.C. 515, 521–22, 462 S.E.2d 311, 315 (Ct. App. 1995) (“Failure to object when the evidence is offered constitutes a waiver of the right to object.”); *see also Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 70, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998) (“It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review.”).

Even so, the City Attorney played no further role in the protest challenge. He did not partake in the examination of witnesses or any other facet of the hearing. He simply gathered information that already was available in the public record and presented it to the Commission. That the records harmed Appellant’s position does not change the fact that the Commission properly requested and received information from the City Attorney.

Rather than point to specific evidence in the record that violated her right to a fair tribunal, Appellant contends the Commission violated her due process right by taking notice of adjudicative facts. (App.’s Br. at 23). Allowing evidence into the record produced by the City Attorney “was capable of an accurate and ready determination to verify its accuracy.” *See* Rule 201(b)–(c), SCRE (allowing a court to take judicial notice of facts “(1) generally known within the territorial jurisdiction of the trial court or (2) capable of accurate and ready determination by resort to sources

whose accuracy cannot reasonably be questioned”); *see also* S.C. Code Ann. § 7-17-50 (“The chairman of the board shall provide for and conduct the hearing as nearly as possible in accordance with the procedures and rules of evidence observed by the circuit courts of this State.”).

Appellant also argues the Commission and City Attorney’s actions violated her rights under the Free and Open Elections Clause. That Constitutional provision provides that “[a]ll elections shall be free and open, and every inhabitant of this State possessing qualifications provided for in this Constitution shall have an equal right to elect officers and be elected to fill public office.” S.C. CONST. art. 1, § 5. “[T]he Clause is satisfied when every voter has an unhindered opportunity to cast a ballot free from intimidation, every voter gets one vote, and each voter has an equal influence with that of every other elector.” *League of Women Voters of S.C. v. Alexander*, 446 S.C. 591, 611, 921 S.E.2d 660, 671 (2025).

Nothing in the Commission’s decision affected a voter’s right to vote. Either Winbush lived in the district or she didn’t. Here, the Commission, based on evidence from both parties, determined she did not and refused to certify the election because of it. The Commission’s hearing did not impede Appellant’s ability to vote or the value of her vote.

c. Winbush experienced no prejudice from the Commission’s procedures.

Appellant concludes by arguing she experienced prejudice from the Commission’s failure to follow the procedural requirement set forth in section 5-15-130. Yet Appellant fails to articulate any prejudice she actually experienced from the protest hearing process. Her due process rights were not violated because she was afforded a full opportunity to be heard; was able to appear with counsel to represent her interests; was able to present evidence; and was able to cross-examine witnesses before an impartial tribunal. *See Vora v. Lexington Med. Ctr.*, 354 S.C. 590, 595, 582 S.E.2d 413, 416 (2003) (holding the procedural due process requirements, at a minimum, “include

(1) adequate notice; (2) adequate opportunity for a hearing; (3) the right to introduce evidence; and (4) the right to confront and cross-examine witnesses”). Not receiving her desired result does not now turn the process into one that allegedly violated her rights.

Here, both candidates received an additional three days before the election challenge hearing. (R. pp. 191-200). No party to the hearing received a benefit which prejudiced another, and all parties had the opportunity to present their evidence to give the Commission the full picture regarding Appellant’s residency.

In reviewing the conduct of election commissions, this Court is reluctant to reverse an election commission’s decision based on a procedural technicality. *See George v. Mun. Election Comm’n*, 335 S.C. 182, 186, 516 S.E.2d 206, 208 (1999). While the *George* Court analyzed an election commission’s failure to follow technical requirements when it certified a contested election, *id.*, the same principle applies when a Commission denies certification but fails to follow a technical requirement unrelated to its substantive decision.

Appellant’s argument that “the City’s attorneys could not have investigated Thompson’s naked Claim,” (App.’s Br. at 25), does not infuse the Commission’s perceived technical error with substantive impact. When a procedural error changes the substantive scope of an election challenge, dismissal is appropriate. *See Butler v. Town of Edgefield*, 328 S.C. 238, 245–46, 493 S.E.2d 838, 842 (1997) (affirming the circuit court’s dismissal of an election challenge when the protestor “failed to provide ‘a concise statement of the grounds’ for his contest”).

The Commission followed its procedures, and Appellant was given a full and fair opportunity to present her case. She lost.

CONCLUSION

Based on the above, the Court should affirm the circuit court's ruling, affirming the Commission's decision to decline to certify the results of the April 7, 2026, election for Anderson City Council Seat 5. The circuit court appropriately concluded there was evidence supporting the Commission's decision.

ROBINSON GRAY STEPP & LAFFITTE, LLC